
Milford Township Board of Supervisors’ Meeting Minutes 
June 3, 2025 - 7:00 pm 

 
Attendance: Supervisors present: John Mininger, Chair and Member Charles Strunk. Christian Haberle, Vice Chair 
was absent. Staff present: Jeffrey Vey, Township Manager; Devan Ambron, Assistant Manager/Secretary/Treasurer; 
Todd Baldwin, Pennoni, and Kate Harper, Timoney Knox.  
 
Call to Order: Mr. Mininger called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Approval of Minutes: Mr. Strunk made a MOTION to approve the May 21, 2025 Meeting Minutes as presented. 
Mr. Mininger seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  
 
Financial Report: Mr. Strunk made a MOTION to approve the current bills list and Treasurer’s Report of April 
2025.  Mr. Mininger seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Zoning Hearing Board: 
Andrew Robison, Special Exception, 1940 Brinkman Road, TMP No. 23-001-144. Mr. Mininger announced the 
Zoning Hearing Board will meet on June 10, 2025 at 7:00 p.m. to hear the application of Andrew Robison for a Special 
Exception request for an Agricultural Retail Use.  
 
Subdivision/Land Development: 
Faith Christian Academy, Waiver of Land Development, 2255 Allentown Road, TMP No. 23-010-112-001. 
Scott Mease of Mease Engineering attended the meeting to present the revised proposal, which includes the removal 
of the existing tennis courts, construction of a 23,184-square-foot field house, and the addition of a restroom 
building. The plan has been revised to eliminate the previously proposed conversion of a football field into an 
artificial turf soccer field, as well as the installation of a new parking lot. Mr. Mease stated that he has received the 
Pennoni review letter dated May 29, 2025, and indicated that all comments listed are will comply. He emphasized 
that there is nothing in the review letter that is insurmountable. Mr. Mease also noted that when the Planning 
Commission previously reviewed the proposal, there were concerns about restroom facilities approved during Phase 
1 that were never constructed. He confirmed that the restrooms will now be built as part of the current proposal. Mr. 
Baldwin stated he has no objections to the revised plan, though there are still land development obligations that must 
be fulfilled in the future. Mr. Mease raised a question regarding Comment 8 in the Pennoni review letter, which 
requires the applicant to demonstrate compliance with the SALDO provisions for Park and Recreation requirements. 
He explained that, historically, the provision of athletic fields by the school has been considered sufficient to meet 
the recreation requirements for the site. Mr. Vey noted that SALDO requirements are waivable, and the rationale is 
that the site includes significantly more acreage than what is typically required under Section 525, as well as a 
greater number of recreational facilities. The key issue is whether these facilities will be dedicated to the public or 
remain under the fee simple ownership of Faith Christian. Mr. Mininger asked if there was any public comment. 
Bryan Malachowski of Breisch Road stated there have been multiple discussions about ongoing traffic concerns. He 
noted an incident occurred on May 19th at 10:15 p.m., during which vehicles were honking, and individuals were 
shouting obscenities. He would like to set up a meeting to further discuss these issues. Mr. Malachowski stated that 
he was informed the disturbances involve individuals who are being rented to and stressed that this matter needs to 
be addressed immediately. He expressed concern that the addition of more facilities will bring more people and 
traffic, further contributing to the existing problems. He stated the situation is becoming unmanageable. He clarified 
that he is not trying to stop the school’s development but is asking for action to be taken to address the issues. These 
problems seem to occur when outsiders rent the fields. Mr. Mininger asked if he has tried to contact the school 
directly. Mr. Malachowski stated he has and has been unsuccessful in setting up a meeting. The lights, sound, and 
incident that happened on May 19th are abusive to the neighborhood. Mr. Clymer stated there hasn’t been any 
softball on the fields located on the Breisch Road side of the school, and with the field house and track going in there 
will be parking lot installed right next to it. A meeting was set up with Mr. Vey, Mr. Malachowski, and Mr. Clymer 
to discuss the ongoing issues. Mr. Rodney Fluck of Allentown Road expressed his understanding and appreciation 
for the revised, scaled-back plan. He noted that a driveway has been installed, which has been described as a 
temporary construction driveway, and requested reassurance that it is indeed temporary. Mr. Mease confirmed that 
the driveway is part of the approved NPDES permit for the grass field. He explained that due to wet ground 
conditions at the time of installation, a rock construction entrance was used. Mr. Fluck noted there is water run off 
onto his property and stated he would prefer not to have vehicles so close to his property. He inquired whether the 
grass fields require formal approval. Mr. Mease responded that the area in question is grass-to-grass and that an 



NPDES permit had been obtained. Mr. Fluck then asked whether it is the Township’s position that no additional 
Township approval is required. Mr. Baldwin clarified that the project received approval during Phase 3. Mr. Fluck 
also asked whether a lighting plan would be presented in the next phase. Mr. Mease confirmed that it would. Mr. 
Vey added that sound considerations will also be addressed. 

Mr. Strunk made a MOTION to approve the requested Waiver of Land Development for Faith Christian 
Academy, 2255 Allentown Road, TMP No. 23-010-112-001, contingent upon the approval of the Township 
Engineer and Township Solicitor. The motion was seconded by Mr. Mininger and passed unanimously.  

 
Wawa Inc., Waiver of Land Development, 1960 John Fries Highway, 23-010-100. Mr. Vey stated a request for a 
Waiver of Land Development has been received from Wawa for the installation of an Electric Vehicle Charging 
Station. The charging station will include four charging stalls with a total new impervious area of 1,100 square feet. 
Mr. Baldwin stated he briefly looked at the plans and sees no issues with what is being proposed. Mr. Vey stated 
engineering and legal approvals will need to be obtained and escrow posted to cover review costs. There was no 
public comment.  

Mr. Mininger made a MOTION to approve the requested Waiver of Land Development for Wawa, Inc., 1960 
John Fries Highway, TMP No. 23-010-100, contingent upon the approval of the Township Engineer and 
Township Solicitor and the posting of escrow to cover fees associated with the review. The motion was seconded 
by Mr. Strunk and passed unanimously.  

 
Rotho Blaas USA, Inc., Preliminary/Final Plan of Land Development, 2075 Rosenberger Road, TMP No. 23-
010-073. Mary Bachert of Bohler Engineering, along with John Ciliberto and Chad Mossesso of Rotho Blaas, 
attended the meeting to present the proposal. The applicant is proposing the construction of a 96,427-square-foot 
warehouse and office building, along with the necessary site improvements. Ms. Bachert stated that they have 
received the review letters from Pennoni, dated May 20, 2025, and from the Fire Marshal, dated April 29, 2025, as 
well as letters from the Bucks County Planning Commission and the Milford Township Water Authority. She 
confirmed that all comments in these letters will be addressed and complied with. Mrs. Harper added that another 
condition of approval is compliance with the Conditional Use approval. Ms. Bachert provided a brief overview of 
the proposal. The parcel is located within the Planned Commercial (PC) zoning district in the Arterial Corridor. The 
existing structure on the lot has been removed, and the applicant is proposing the construction of a 94,427-square-
foot warehouse with office space on the second floor. The project is planned to be developed in phases. Site access 
will be from Rosenberger Road. Stormwater on the site flows from right to left, toward the intersection of Milford 
Square Pike and Rosenberger Road. Stormwater management is proposed through a combination of a vegetative 
green roof and a manage-and-release basin. The NPDES permit application is currently in process. Bob Smith of 
Hillcrest Road inquired about potential improvements at the intersection of Route 663 and Rosenberger Road. Ms. 
Bachert responded that there will be a change to traffic flow at the intersection. Rosenberger Road is currently a two-
way intersection. It will remain a two-way then be converted to a one way from the Route 663 intersection to the 
sites entrance. Ms. Bachert noted this will require a PennDOT permit. John Greenwalt, President of the Milford 
Pointe Crossing HOA, expressed concern that residents living across from the proposed site may be affected by 
noise once the warehouse is constructed. He inquired about the location of the air conditioning units. Mr. Ciliberto 
explained that the office portion of the building will be situated at the front, where the HVAC units will be housed. 
He added that the units could also be installed on the rooftop. An 8-foot-high berm with vegetation is proposed, and 
the building will feature a low-profile design, making only the upper portion potentially visible from neighboring 
homes. Mr. Mininger noted that the tallest section of the building will face Route 663. Mr. Ciliberto stated that he 
does not anticipate significant noise issues arising from the project. Mr. Greenwalt then asked whether additional 
screening could be considered if noise complaints are received, pointing out that the rooftop may align with the 
second stories of nearby residences, where bedrooms are typically located. Mr. Ciliberto said consideration could be 
addressed during the design phase. Mr. Malachowski inquired whether a maintenance agreement would be 
established for the green roof. Mr. Ciliberto clarified that there is no tenant and that the property owner will occupy 
the site. Ms. Bachert confirmed that an agreement will be recorded that goes with the land. Lisa Gallagher of 
Crossings Way commented that she will have a direct view of the site every day. She described the property as 
currently unkempt and poorly maintained and expressed her desire for the site to be properly maintained and offer a 
more picturesque appearance. Mr. Vey explained that the applicant has only recently acquired the property, and that 
its previous condition was the result of neglect by the former owners. Ms. Gallagher asked when site work would 
begin. Mr. Ciliberto responded that they are currently in the design phase and working through the NPDES 
permitting process, with hopes to begin groundwork in the spring of 2026. Ms. Gallagher also inquired about the fate 
of the existing farmhouse. Mr. Ciliberto confirmed that the house will be demolished and there are several nice 
sections of stone they are trying to repurpose.  



Mr. Mininger made a MOTION to approve Resolution No. 2025-12 granting Preliminary Approval of Land 
Development with conditions for the Rotho Blaas USA, Inc. and Milford 6.5 Investors application along with 
approval of the requested waivers. The motion was seconded by Mr. Mininger and passed unanimously.  

 
400 Commerce Drive, Lot 4 Milford Industrial Commons, TMP No. 23-010-168-004 and 23-010-168-008, 
Preliminary Plan of Land Development. Construction of 30,000 square foot industrial building. Tabled 
 
Other Business: 
Valley Soccer Club Agreement. Mr. Vey stated the Valley Soccer Agreement has been circulating for some time. 
There is a minor refinement in eliminating item #10 of the agreement which includes: Revenues, Concessions and 
Advertisements. It is unknown at this stage what will go on in terms of concession. Joe Sink asked if parking will 
impact the annual carnival. Mr. Vey stated it would not and they want to retain the ability for the fire company to be 
involved in concessions and not solely owned. If we get a concession stand going it should be its own entity with 
decisions on where revenues go. John Myers, Quakertown Youth Baseball Association, asked if there have been any 
changes to where the soccer fields will be located. Mr. Vey replied there are no changes. Mr. Mininger asked where 
the concession stand was to be located. Mr. Vey said at the end of the driveway where water and sewer come 
together. Mr. Myers said when the concession stand is considered in the future, he would like to be present for 
discussion due to the proximity to the baseball fields.  

Mr. Strunk made a MOTION to approve the Agreement between Milford Township and Valley Soccer Club 
with the removal of paragraph 10. Mr. Mininger seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  

 
Crossings Way, Discussion of Dedication of Public Road, Open Space Maintenance and Use. Mr. Vey stated 
that most of the issues related to the dedication of the public road have been resolved, including designating no 
parking on one side of the road and relocating the cluster mailbox. He mentioned speaking with Mr. Winkler, who 
confirmed that signage will be installed and enforced during snow events to prevent vehicles from parking on the 
roadway. Mr. Greenwalt asked about basketball nets placed in the roadway. Mr. Vey responded that any object in the 
roadway is considered an obstruction and is not permitted. He then asked Mr. Greenwalt whether the HOA has a 
way to enforce the removal of basketball nets from the public road. Mr. Gallagher added that this is an issue the 
HOA is currently addressing. Ms. Gallagher expressed concern upon learning that the road had not yet been 
dedicated, saying it made her anxious to realize it was considered a private road to be plowed by an outside 
contractor. She shared that seeing the township plow the road brought her a sense of security. She also mentioned 
that two police officers who live next to her were worried they might be unable to get to work during a snowstorm. 
Ms. Gallagher stated that everyone should work together to move the dedication process forward. Mr. Mininger 
asked Mr. Winkler if he had any comments. Mr. Winkler replied that since the road crew is already operating in the 
development, dedicating the road makes the most sense. Mrs. Harper stated that a Deed of Dedication will need to be 
offered to the township and offered to assist in drafting it if necessary. She explained that the HOA Board must vote 
to offer the road to the township, and then the township must formally accept it. Mr. Vey asked Mr. Winkler whether 
the Deed of Dedication should include the stub at the end of the road that allows parking. Mr. Winkler stated it 
should, that will clean it all up. Mr. Greenwalt noted that the HOA Board is scheduled to meet on June 24th. Mr. 
Vey stated that there is an area of open space located behind several homes that includes a retention basin, which is 
currently receiving minimal maintenance. Previously, nearby property owners had been mowing the area up to the 
basin, but that is no longer happening. A proposal has been made to install a playground and a half basketball court 
in the space; however, the township’s current vision for the area is to maintain it as a low-maintenance meadow. Mr. 
Vey suggested that plans could be developed in collaboration with the Park Board and the residents living adjacent 
to the area. He also noted that there are other sites with similar potential for improvement. A formal presentation 
could be prepared for the HOA to review. Mr. Greenwalt mentioned that he is currently gathering feedback and 
expects to have more information after the upcoming HOA meeting. Mrs. Harper asked whether the township would 
assume responsibility for maintaining the basins. Mr. Vey clarified that the township already owns the basins. Mr. 
Greenwalt added that they will need to determine who owns the property where snow is typically dumped, as well as 
the parcels that back up to the basin. Mr. Vey stated they can sit down and go over the specifics to come up with a 
plan.  
 
Carvers Hill Road Truck Restriction Evaluation Report. Mr. Vey reported that Carroll Engineering Corporation 
has submitted an Evaluation for Posting regarding a proposed truck restriction on Carvers Hill Road, on behalf of 
residents Donald and Wendy Cornagie. Township Traffic Engineer Joe Fiocca of SAFE Highway Engineering was 
present to discuss the report. It was noted that the report lacks the necessary level of detail to support a truck 
restriction at this time. The evaluation appeared to be largely subjective, primarily based on a general desire to 



prevent truck traffic, rather than on objective data. As a result, no determination can be made without more concrete 
evidence. A letter will be prepared outlining the specific information and analysis PennDOT would require in order 
to consider such a restriction. Mr. Vey pointed out that if Carvers Hill Road were closed to truck traffic, trucks 
would need to reroute through Finland, where the turning radius is inadequate for larger vehicles. Mr. Fiocca 
explained that truck bans can only be justified when the physical conditions of the roadway cannot safely 
accommodate truck traffic. Mr. Vey also noted that there are several businesses in the area that regularly receive 
large truck deliveries, though it’s unclear which routes those trucks currently use. Mr. Mininger shared that he had 
taken a PennDOT course on local road maintenance and truck restrictions. The course emphasized that while 
municipalities are not prohibited from restricting truck traffic, PennDOT strongly advises against using generic "No 
Trucks" signs. Instead, restrictions should be based on specific vehicle length or height limitations. He also noted 
that the township receives liquid fuels funding. Mr. Vey asked if the Board agreed with sending a letter to the 
residents of Carvers Hill Road. Mr. Mininger stated the township needs to formally respond to the submitted report. 
Mr. Fiocca reiterated that, in his professional opinion, the engineering data to support a restriction is currently 
insufficient. A letter will be issued to Mr. and Mrs. Cornagie of Carvers Hill Road in response to the evaluation 
report, detailing the current findings and next steps. 
 
Isenberg Tract Tenant Discussion, 2085 Upper Ridge Road, TMP No. 23-020-109. Mr. Vey stated we are up 
against the date of default of the agreement of sale. It was discovered there are no property descriptions recorded, 
and a survey will need to be done. There is also concern on how to handle the existing tenants. Mrs. Harper said an 
addendum to the agreement of sale will need to be approved. The addendum includes the following: Settlement shall 
be extended until August 29, 2025; Title to all parcels shall be good and marketable at regular title company rates; 
and Milford Township will assume the Lease for the tenants provided that there are mutually acceptable habitable 
living arrangements for the tenants. Bryan Malachowski of Breish Road asked why the township is purchasing the 
property, noting that it does not appear to be part of a watershed. Mr. Vey explained that the property lies within the 
Highlands region, is completely wooded, and may be a potential archaeological site. He added that the West 
Rockhill parcels are landlocked and nearly contiguous with existing open space, making the acquisition strategically 
beneficial. This purchase will also help preserve the forest canopy of the Highlands. Mr. Malachowski noted that, at 
a previous meeting, it was stated the township tries to avoid acquiring properties with existing structures. He pointed 
out that this parcel includes multiple buildings. Mr. Vey responded that the tenants have lived on the property for 
over 50 years. Mr. Haberle added that the property will be purchased using open space tax revenue. Mr. 
Malachowski inquired whether the site would be open to residents. Mr. Vey confirmed that it would and emphasized 
that property purchases are considered on a case-by-case basis, and the township tries to follow the Unami 
Watershed. 

Mr. Mininger made a MOTION to approve the Addendum/Endorsement to Agreement of Sale of the Isenberg 
Tract, 2085 Upper Ridge Road, TMP No. 23-020-109, 23-20-108, 52-001-027, and 52-001-026. The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Strunk and passed unanimously.  

 
Amendment to Resolution 2025-09 RACP Grant, Exhibit A Cooperation Sub-Grant Agreement naming St. 
Luke’s Hospital of Bethlehem Pennsylvania d/b/a St. Luke’s Hospital & Health Network and St. Luke’s 
Quakertown Hospital d/b/a St. Luke’s Hospital - Upper Bucks Campus. Mr. Vey stated an amendment to 
Exhibit A of Resolution 2025-09 is needed. The amendment includes the naming of St. Luke’s Hospital of 
Bethlehem Pennsylvania d/b/a St. Luke’s Hospital & Health Network and St. Luke’s Quakertown Hospital d/b/a St. 
Luke’s Hospital - Upper Bucks Campus keeping it in line with the RACP Grant Agreement.  

Mr. Mininger made a MOTION to approve the amendment to Exhibit A of Resolution No. 2025-09, naming St. 
Luke’s Hospital of Bethlehem Pennsylvania d/b/a St. Luke’s Hospital & Health Network and St. Luke’s 
Quakertown Hospital d/b/a St. Luke’s Hospital - Upper Bucks Campus. The motion was seconded by Mr. Strunk 
and passed unanimously.  

 
Correspondence: 
Fire Police Assistance Request(s). Mr. Mininger reported the request for Fire Police Assistance has been received 
from Quakertown Borough for the annual Quakertown Community Day taking place on July 4, 2025.  

Mr. Mininger made a MOTION to approve the Fire Police Assistance request received from Quakertown 
Borough for the annual Quakertown Community Day taking place on July 4, 2025. The motion was 
seconded by Mr. Strunk and passed unanimously.  

 
Bucks County Airport Authority Meeting Minutes. Mr. Mininger reported nothing has changed from last month. 
There is still a lot of paving projects and planned hangars when and if the grant money comes through.   



  
Milford Township Water Authority Meeting Minutes, 2024 Consumer Confidence Report. Mr. Vey reported 
the minutes of April 8, 2025 and the 2024 Consumer Confidence Report are available for review.  
 
Milford Trumbauersville Area Sewer Authority Meeting Minutes. Mr. Vey reported the meeting minutes of 
April 21, 2025 are available for review.  
 
Reports: 
Code Enforcement Departmental Report. Mr. Kravitsky presented the May 2025 Report. A total of 31 permits 
were issued in May: 8 residential renovations, 6 zoning, 6 commercial, 8 residential accessory, and 3 single family 
dwelling. A total of 9 Use & Occupancy permits were issued, and 1 Zoning Hearing Board Application was 
received. 
 
Public Works Departmental Report. Mr. Winkler presented the May 2025 Report. The crew spent most of the 
month working with the Water Authority installing the watermain on Allentown Road. The main is complete and 
there are five laterals to install at this point. All developments and curbing were swept throughout the township. 
Large trees that fell across the walking path at Streamview Development were removed and salt spreaders and plows 
were removed and put away until next winter season. Mr. Winkler provided an update on the Splash pad. The new 
pump was installed, and the water vault needs to be cleaned and some minor maintenance issues before opening day. 
  
Park Board Meeting Minutes. Mr. Vey reported the Park Board meeting minutes of May 14, 2025 discuss the need 
for rules and regulations for future trails in the open space, as well as an overall plan for the trails. There was a 
discussion about a general plan for a regional trail that would link the Quakertown area and points north to the 
Perkiomen Trail. The Land Stewardship Manager reported on mowing and maintenance. It was reported there is 
erosion taking place along the trail edge near Rosenberger Road. The condition of the Valley View “tot lot” was 
discussed and will be looked at.    
 
Agricultural Security Area Advisory Committee Meeting Minutes. Mr. Vey reported the meeting minutes of 
April 23, 2025 discuss AG Daze, which is scheduled for September 13, 2025, and Ag Leases.    
 
Milford Fire Company Report. Chief Butler reported 30 calls were received in May making the yearly total 172. 
The Special Service is complete and was out at the Fire Expo in Harrisburg. District 1 Chiefs will be meeting on July 
17, 2025. The Fire County Advisory Board still working on fire school issues and a water rescue training facility. 
They will have an incident support team to assist at major incidents if requested. They are also working with the 
county on the tax rebate for volunteers.  
 
Trumbauersville Fire Company Report, Trumbauersville Volunteer Firefighters Relief Association Audit. Mr. 
Vey stated a written report has been received and is available for review. The compliance audit covered the period of 
January 1, 2021 to December 31, 2024 and reported appropriation the Relief Association took appropriate corrective 
action to address the finding contained in the prior audit report.  
 
Manager Reports. Mr. Vey stated wording for the Land Owner Agreements for riparian plantings for St. Luke’s 
Hospital and the Emerson property has been worked out. In short it states the township has a DCNR Grant and we 
anticipate spending funds on the St. Luke’s and Emerson properties. It is on the township to do the work, and the 
property owners are to agree that the trees cannot be cut down for a minimum of 25-years. If the trees are damaged 
the value will be prorated. The township will also need to enter into an agreement with our selves. Mrs. Harper asked 
if deed restrictions will be required. Mr. Vey stated no, this is part of the Grant.  
 
Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items: None 
 
Adjournment:  
With there being no further discussion Mr. Strunk made MOTION to adjourn the June 3, 2025 Milford Township 
Board of Supervisors meeting at 8:22 p.m. Mr. Mininger seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  
 
 
 
 


